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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

ORLANDO DIVISION 

 

 

SHOLAM WEISS,     CASE NO.: 6:15-cv-471-Orl-41KRS  

  

 Petitioner, 

 

v.  

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

   

 Respondent. 

 ________________________________________/ 

 

REPLY MEMORANDUM OF LAW  

 

Petitioner, Sholam Weiss, submits this reply memorandum of law in support of his 

Section 2255 Motion to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Sentence (“2255 Motion” or “2255 

Mot.”).  As explained in Mr. Weiss’s 2255 Motion, Doc. 1, Mr. Weiss’s conviction should be 

vacated because he received ineffective assistance of counsel for four reasons: 

(1) His attorney, Robert Leventhal, Esquire suffered from an actual conflict of 

interest at the time Mr. Leventhal represented Mr. Weiss before the grand jury. 

(2)  His trial counsel, Joel Hirschhorn, Esquire, failed to move to suppress Mr. 

Weiss’s grand jury testimony based on the violation of Mr. Weiss’s Sixth Amendment rights 

resulting from Mr. Leventhal’s conflict of interest in representing Mr. Weiss in the grand jury 

proceedings and failed to advise Mr. Weiss that Mr. Leventhal suffered from an actual conflict 

of interest. 

(3)  His appellate counsel, Stephen J. Calvacca, Esquire suffered from an actual 

conflict of interest at the time Mr. Calvacca represented Mr. Weiss in his direct appeal, and 

this actual conflict adversely affected his performance. 
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(4) Mr. Hirschhorn provided Mr. Weiss ineffective assistance by misadvising Mr. 

Weiss in plea negotiations. 

The government has filed a Response in Opposition to Mr. Weiss’s 2255 Motion 

(“Response”), Doc. 34, in which it argues Mr. Weiss’s 2255 Motion should be denied on all 

grounds without a hearing.  For the reasons explained in Mr. Weiss’s 2255 Motion and below, 

the government’s arguments are not well-taken and an evidentiary hearing should be ordered 

on all grounds set forth in the 2255 Motion. 

REPLY MEMORANDUM 

I. Mr. Weiss was denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel because Mr. 

Leventhal suffered from an actual conflict of interest at the time he represented 

Mr. Weiss before the grand jury. 

 

 Mr. Weiss explained in his 2255 Motion that he was denied his Sixth Amendment right 

to counsel because Mr. Leventhal suffered from an actual conflict of interest when he 

represented Mr. Weiss during his grand jury appearance in January 1998, and this conflict 

adversely affected Mr. Leventhal’s performance.  2255 Mot. at 12-34.  There can be no 

question here that Mr. Leventhal suffered from an actual conflict when he represented Mr. 

Weiss before the grand jury.  The Eleventh Circuit decided that issue in Mr. Weiss’s direct 

appeal, where it held that Mr. “Leventhal’s representation of [Mr.] Weiss was rife with 

conflict.”  United States v. Weiss, 539 Fed. Appx. 952, 955 (11th Cir. 2013).  The Eleventh 

Circuit also addressed the time period in which that conflict existed, holding that it “arose when 

Weiss used his services to obstruct justice,” id., which was alleged to have taken place when 

Mr. Weiss provided Mr. Leventhal documents in 1995 for Mr. Leventhal to turn over to the 

government.  Id. at 954.  Finally, the Eleventh Circuit identified the subject matter of the actual 
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conflict between Mr. Weiss and Mr. Leventhal: “the nature, timing, and circumstances of 

disgorging the documents at issue to federal law enforcement authority.”  Id. at 955. 

 Mr. Leventhal nonetheless represented Mr. Weiss before the grand jury in January 

1998.  See 2255 Mot. at 20.  In doing so, he was placed in the position of advising Mr. Weiss 

regarding precisely the topics on which the Eleventh Circuit has held he had a conflict of 

interest – the nature, timing, and circumstances under which materials the government 

contended were not genuine were turned over to law enforcement. Id. at 20-23.  As explained 

in Mr. Weiss’s 2255 Motion, Mr. Weiss was adversely affected by this conflict because Mr. 

Leventhal failed to advise Mr. Weiss to assert his Fifth Amendment rights, a strategy any 

reasonable defense attorney would have employed.  See 2255 Mot. at 31. 

 As further explained in Mr. Weiss’s 2255 Motion, Mr. Leventhal’s conflict-ridden 

representation of Mr. Weiss before the grand jury violated Mr. Weiss’s Sixth Amendment 

rights.  See 2255 Mot. at 32-33.  This case presents the unusual situation in which a defendant’s 

Sixth Amendment rights attached in connection with a grand jury proceeding, because the 

government had already committed itself to prosecute Mr. Weiss; indeed, it had already 

indicted him once, and the case was back before the grand jury only because the government 

had dismissed that indictment in order to add more charges.  See id. at 32-34. 

 The government nonetheless argues that: (a) Mr. Weiss had no Sixth Amendment right 

to counsel at the time he appeared before the grand jury in January 1998; (b) no actual conflict 

affected Mr. Leventhal’s performance during Mr. Weiss’s grand jury appearance; (c) Mr. 

Weiss has waived Mr. Leventhal’s actual conflict; and (d) Mr. Weiss should be judicially 

estopped from arguing Mr. Leventhal suffered from an actual conflict of interest.  Doc. 34.  

Each of these issues will be addressed in turn. 
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A. Mr. Weiss’s Sixth Amendment right to counsel had attached at the time of 

his grand jury appearance. 

 

 As Mr. Weiss acknowledged in his 2255 Motion, the general rule is that a defendant’s 

Sixth Amendment right to counsel does not attach until the defendant has been indicted.  2255 

Mot. at 33.  The government relies on this general rule to argue that Mr. Weiss had no Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel at the time of his grand jury appearance in January 1998.  Doc. 

34 at 20-24.   The general rule is not without exception, however, and such an exception applies 

here.  The proceedings against Mr. Weiss had crossed the line into becoming adversarial, and 

the government had expressly committed itself to prosecute Mr. Weiss before his grand jury 

appearance. 

While there are conflicting cases on the point, federal courts have recognized that, 

although the right to counsel generally does not attach pre-indictment, it “may attach at earlier 

stages, when ‘the accused is confronted, just as at trial, by the procedural system, or by his 

expert adversary, or by both, in a situation where the results of the confrontation might well 

settle the accused’s fate and reduce the trial itself to a mere formality.’”  Matteo v. 

Superintendent, SCI Albion, 171 F.3d 877, 892 (3d Cir. 1999) (quoting  United States v. 

Gouveia, 467 U.S. 180, 189 (1984)).  A defendant’s right to counsel attaches when the 

defendant is “faced with the prosecutorial forces of organized society, and immersed in the 

intricacies of substantive and procedural criminal law.”  Id. (quoting Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 

682, 689 (1972)).  As a result, the presumption that the right to counsel has not attached 

preindictment may be rebutted.  United States v. Larkin, 978 F.2d 964, 969 (7th Cir. 1992).  A 

defendant may rebut the presumption by showing that “the government had crossed the 

constitutionally-significant divide from fact-finder to adversary.”  United States ex rel. Hall v. 
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Lane, 804 F.2d 79, 82–83 (7th Cir. 1986) (citing DeAngelo v. Wainwright, 781 F.2d 1516, 

1519-20 (11th Cir. 1986) (Sixth Amendment right does not vest when the state gathers 

information in a “nonadversarial atmosphere”; appellant must prove that state was seeking to 

gain “incriminating evidence.”))  

 In this regard, Mr. Weiss cited in his 2255 Motion, Doc. 1 at 33, United States v. Wilson, 

719 F. Supp. 2d 1260 (D. Or. 2010), in which the defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel had attached before he was indicted because the government had indicated that it had 

made the decision to indict, communicated that decision to the defendant, and taken specific 

steps that demonstrated that the parties’ adverse positions had solidified, such that the 

circumstances were the “functional equivalent of the initiation of formal adversarial 

proceedings.”  Id. at 1267.  Similarly in this case, the government had already indicted Mr. 

Weiss once and announced its intention to do so again.  See 2255 Mot. at 34.    

The government attempts to distinguish Wilson on the ground that it involved plea 

negotiations rather than an investigation.  Doc. 34 at 22.  Other cases, however, have applied 

the exception that Mr. Weiss relies on outside the context of plea negotiations.  For example, 

the defendant in Matteo had been arrested and incarcerated, and had retained a lawyer, but was 

not yet charged at the time he had communications with an informant he alleged was a 

government agent.  171 F.3d at 892.  The court recognized that even if the defendant had not 

been charged at the time of this conversation, he was nonetheless “confronted with the 

organized resources of an ongoing police investigation by agents who were well aware of his 

legal representation.”  Id. at 893.  It therefore held his right to “counsel had attached and he 

was entitled to the full protection of the Sixth Amendment.”  Id.  Similarly, courts have found 

the right to counsel had attached in cases where the defendant had already been charged by a 
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different entity and had retained counsel at the time of the alleged Sixth Amendment violation.  

United States v. Mills, 412 F.3d 325, 329 (2d Cir. 2005); United States v. Red Bird, 287 F.3d 

709, 715-716 (8th Cir. 2002).  In short, while the principle Mr. Weiss relies on often comes up 

in the context of plea negotiations, it is not limited to that context. 

The government further argues that because the right to counsel is offense-specific, if 

the right to counsel attached, it did not apply to the false statement and obstruction of justice 

charges that were the subject of counts 91-93 of the indictment.  Doc. 34 at 23.  There are two 

flaws in this reasoning.  First, whether or not Mr. Weiss had a right to counsel specifically as 

to potential false statement and obstruction of justice charges, he had a right to counsel in 

connection with his January 1998 grand jury appearance.  At the time of that grand jury 

appearance, the government had already charged Mr. Weiss with offenses related to the 

collapse of NHLIC.  2255 Mot. at 17.  The purpose of the government’s January 1998 

presentation to the grand jury was to obtain a new indictment of Mr. Weiss and others adding 

additional charges related to the failure of NHLIC because the district court would not permit 

the government to file a second superseding indictment in the original case.  Id. at 18.  For the 

reasons explained above, the government having committed itself to prosecute and crossed the 

line into adversary prior to the grand jury proceedings, Mr. Weiss had a right to counsel in 

connection with his grand jury testimony.  Second, the government stated before it obtained 

the new indictment that it anticipated the new indictment would encompass “all criminal 

conduct relating to the failure of [NHLIC].”  2255 Mot. at 18 (quoting Case No. 97-CR-71-

ORL-22B, Doc. 152 at 2).  The prosecutor’s questions of Mr. Weiss in the grand jury, and the 

resulting additional charges, related directly to the government’s investigation into criminal 
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conduct regarding the failure of NHLIC, and Mr. Weiss’s conduct during that investigation.  

Mr. Weiss therefore had a right to counsel in connection with that testimony. 

For these reasons, Mr. Weiss had a Sixth Amendment right to counsel at the time of 

his January 1998 grand jury appearance. 

B. Mr. Leventhal suffered from an actual conflict at the time of his 

representation of Mr. Weiss. 

  

 A defendant whose counsel operated under an actual conflict while representing the 

defendant is entitled to relief on a showing that the actual conflict adversely affected the 

attorney’s performance.  See 2255 Mot. at 30.  That is, the defendant must show there was a 

plausible alternative defense theory or tactic that was reasonable under the circumstances, and 

that there was a link between the actual conflict and the decision to forgo that strategy. 2255 

Mot. at 30-31 (quoting Freund v. Butterworth, 165 F.3d 839, 860 (11th Cir. 1999)). Mr. Weiss 

explained in his 2255 Motion that as a result of Mr. Leventhal’s actual conflict, Mr. Leventhal 

failed to employ the strategy any reasonable defense attorney would have employed under the 

circumstances: instructing Mr. Weiss to assert his Fifth Amendment rights in response to 

questions relating to production to the government of the South Star agreement and draft 

agreements, documents relating to Solar, and the tape recordings.  See 2255 Mot. at 31.  

 The government first argues that Mr. Leventhal did not suffer from an actual conflict 

of interest at the time of Mr. Weiss’s January 21, 1998, grand jury testimony.  Doc. 34 at 26-

36.  The government’s contention rests on the premise that Mr. Leventhal’s conflict of interest 

was based solely on the government’s intention to call Mr. Leventhal as a trial witness against 

Mr. Weiss.  Id.  The Eleventh Circuit addressed precisely this issue on appeal, however.  It 

expressly rejected the argument that “it was the issuance of the [trial] subpoena” that created 
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the conflict requiring Mr. Leventhal to be disqualified as Mr. Weiss’s counsel.  Weiss, 539 

Fed. Appx. at 955.  Instead, the Eleventh Circuit held, Mr. “Leventhal had an actual conflict 

of interest that arose when Weiss used his services to obstruct justice and could not represent 

[Mr.] Weiss for that reason.”  Id.  The Eleventh Circuit explained that Mr. Leventhal “could 

not counsel [Mr.] Weiss as to whether he should or should not testify regarding, for example, 

the timing and circumstances of the conveyance of the documents when [Mr.] Leventhal’s 

knowledge of events differed from [Mr.] Weiss’s testimony.”  Id.  The record shows that the 

matters regarding which the Eleventh Circuit held Mr. Leventhal could not counsel Mr. Weiss 

due to his conflict – “the timing and circumstances of the conveyance of the documents” – are 

precisely the matters about which Mr. Leventhal advised Mr. Weiss in the course of his grand 

jury testimony.  See 2255 Mot. at 21-23, 31.  

 The government also argues that the Eleventh Circuit’s holding that Mr. Leventhal 

suffered an actual conflict here is not law of the case, on the theory that the issue decided on 

appeal was whether Mr. Weiss was deprived of the trial counsel of his choice when the 

government issued a trial subpoena to Mr. Leventhal.  Doc. 34 at 27-28.  The government takes 

an overly narrow view of the law of the case doctrine.  That doctrine “bars relitigation of issues 

that were decided, either explicitly or by necessary implication, in an earlier appeal of the same 

case.” United States v. Jordan, 429 F.3d 1032, 1035 (11th Cir. 2005).  As discussed above, 

regardless of how the issue on appeal was framed, in resolving Mr. Weiss’s appeal, the 

Eleventh Circuit explicitly decided: (1) that Mr. Leventhal had an actual conflict, (2) when the 

conflict arose – that is, “when [Mr.] Weiss used [Mr. Leventhal’s] services to obstruct justice,” 

and (3) the nature of the advice the conflict precluded Mr. Leventhal from providing Mr. Weiss 

– that is, that Mr. “Leventhal could not counsel [Mr.] Weiss as to whether he should or should 
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not testify regarding, for example, the timing and circumstances of the conveyance of the 

documents.”  Weiss, 539 Fed. Appx. at 955.  Having been squarely addressed and decided by 

the Eleventh Circuit, the holding that Mr. Leventhal had an actual conflict is law of the case. 

 The government’s argument that Mr. Weiss cannot show Mr. Leventhal had a conflict 

when he represented Mr. Weiss in connection with his January 1998 grand jury testimony 

because it is not clear whether Mr. Leventhal knew at that time that he would be a trial witness, 

Doc. 34 at 28-33, also fails.  The government asserted in the trial court, Doc. 591 (Cr.) at 56-

57, and on appeal, Doc. 1 Ex. 2 at 61, that Mr. Leventhal knew by January 1998 that he would 

be a trial witness.  It now seeks to backtrack from those assertions and take the position that 

Mr. Leventhal did not know until April 1998 that he would be subpoenaed as a trial witness.  

Doc. 34 at 30.  Regardless of which of the government’s assertions regarding the timing of Mr. 

Leventhal’s knowledge he would be a trial witness is correct, Mr. Leventhal had a conflict at 

the time of Mr. Weiss’s grand jury testimony.  As the Eleventh Circuit held, Weiss, 539 Fed. 

Appx. at 955, Mr. Leventhal’s conflict arose when Mr. Weiss allegedly used him to obstruct 

justice by providing the government with materials the government asserted were fabricated.  

Those events took place in 1995.  2255 Mot. at 14-17.  The government concluded at some 

point in 1997 that the materials were fabricated.  Id. at 16-17; see also Doc. 34 at 28 (citing 

Doc. (Cr.) 591 at 56-57).  Accordingly, the actual conflict the Eleventh Circuit has held Mr. 

Leventhal suffered from arose well before he advised Mr. Weiss in connection with Mr. 

Weiss’s January 1998 grand jury testimony. 

 Finally, the government argues that Mr. Leventhal’s potential knowledge he would be 

a trial witness created only a “potential conflict” rather than an “actual conflict” at the time of 

Mr. Weiss’s grand jury appearance.  Doc. 34 at 33-36.  Again, this argument overlooks the 
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nature of the conflict at issue here, which the Eleventh Circuit held resulted not only from Mr. 

Leventhal’s status as a potential witness, but also from Mr. Weiss’s alleged use of Mr. 

Leventhal to obstruct justice in the course of the investigation of this case.  Weiss, 539 Fed. 

Appx. at 955.  The Eleventh Circuit specifically described this as an “actual conflict,” id., and, 

as discussed above, it arose well before Mr. Weiss’s grand jury testimony. 

 For these reasons, Mr. Leventhal suffered from an actual conflict at the time he 

represented Mr. Weiss before the grand jury. 

 C. Mr. Leventhal’s actual conflict adversely affected his representation of Mr. 

Weiss. 

  

The government argues that Mr. Weiss cannot show an adverse effect from Mr. 

Leventhal’s representation of him on the theory that Mr. Weiss was not entitled to assert his 

Fifth Amendment rights in the grand jury because he was subpoenaed as a records custodian.  

Doc. 34 at 36-39.  In support of this argument, the government relies on the sealed grand jury 

order requiring Mr. Weiss to authenticate corporate records.  Id. at 39 (citing Misc-OS-96-13, 

Doc. S-45).   

The government overlooks, however, that the testimony it elicited from Mr. Weiss in 

the grand jury was not limited to authenticating the documents Mr. Leventhal had provided the 

government.  Numerous federal courts have addressed, and strictly limited, the scope of 

authentication testimony the government may seek from a records custodian.  See, e.g., In re 

Grand Jury Subpoena (John Doe. Inc.), 991 F. Supp. 968, 977-980 (E.D. Mich. 2014); In re 

Grand Jury Proceedings (ABC Corp.), 473 F. Supp. 2d 201, 207-10 (D. Mass. 2007); In re 

Grand Jury Investigation of Possible Violation of 18 U.S.C. §1461 et seq., 706 F. Supp. 2d 11, 

14-16 (D.D.C. 2009); In re Grand Jury Empaneled on April 6, 1993, 869 F. Supp. 298, 301-
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08 (D.N.J. 1994).  That is, the government may require a records custodian to testify regarding 

facts that are implicit in having produced particular documents in response to a subpoena.  

Grand Jury Subpoena (John Doe. Inc.), 991 F. Supp. at 977; In re Grand Jury Proceedings 

(ABC Corp.), 473 F. Supp. 2d at 210; In re Grand Jury Investigation of Possible Violation of 

18 U.S.C. §1461 et seq., 706 F. Supp. 2d at 15; In re Grand Jury Empaneled on April 6, 1993, 

869 F. Supp. at 302.  While courts have framed the scope of such examination in varying ways, 

the essence of their holdings is that a records custodian may be required to testify regarding 

whether produced documents are corporate papers of the subpoenaed entity that are responsive 

to the subpoena.  Grand Jury Subpoena (John Doe. Inc.), 991 F. Supp. at 977; see also In re 

Grand Jury Proceedings (ABC Corp.), 473 F. Supp. 2d at  210; In re Grand Jury Investigation 

of Possible Violation of 18 U.S.C. §1461 et seq., 706 F. Supp. 2d at 15; In re Grand Jury 

Empaneled on April 6, 1993, 869 F. Supp. at 304 & n.3. 

Authenticating the materials that Mr. Leventhal had provided the government was not 

the focus of the government’s questions in Mr. Weiss’s January grand jury appearance.  Indeed, 

the government was not interested in having those documents authenticated – the government 

had concluded before January 1998 that the materials were not genuine.  2255 Mot. at 16-17; 

Doc. 34 at 28 (citing Doc. (Cr.) 591 at 56-57).  Instead, the government used Mr. Weiss’s grand 

jury appearance as an opportunity to question Mr. Weiss about his providing the materials to 

Mr. Leventhal for production to the government.  See 2255 Mot. at 21-23.  Because those 

matters went beyond the scope of the authentication testimony the Court had ordered Mr. 

Weiss to provide, Mr. Weiss was entitled to assert his Fifth Amendment rights. 

For these reasons, had Mr. Leventhal not suffered from an actual conflict at the time he 

represented Mr. Weiss in connection with Mr. Weiss’s January 1998 grand jury appearance, 
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he could and reasonably would have advised Mr. Weiss to assert his Fifth Amendment rights 

in response to the government’s questions.  Mr. Weiss was therefore adversely affected by Mr. 

Leventhal’s actual conflict.  

D. Mr. Weiss did not waive Mr. Leventhal’s actual conflict. 

The government asserts that Mr. Weiss knowingly waived the actual conflict between 

him and Mr. Leventhal by using Mr. Leventhal to obstruct justice and by continuing to use Mr. 

Leventhal as his counsel.  Doc. 34 at 41-43.  Mr. Weiss could not have waived Mr. Leventhal’s 

conflict here because it was an unwaivable conflict.  Even if it had been possible to waive this 

conflict, doing so would have required Mr. Weiss to make a knowing and informed waiver, 

which did not happen here.   

As was explained in Mr. Weiss’s 2255 Motion, Mr. Weiss could not waive Mr. 

Leventhal’s actual conflict of interest because the conflict was not waivable.  2255 Mot. at 32-

33.  Indeed, the government set forth the reasons this is the case in its Answer Brief in Mr. 

Weiss’s direct appeal, where it stated that Mr. Leventhal “had a non-waivable conflict of 

interest under the rules of professional conduct.”  2255 Mot. Ex. 2 at 72-74.  The government 

now seeks to distance itself from that position.  It asserts in response to Mr. Weiss’s 2255 

Motion that the only reason Mr. Leventhal’s conflict was unwaivable was that Mr. Leventhal 

could not testify against his client.  Doc. 34 at 41.  To the contrary, as the Eleventh Circuit held 

and the government argued on Mr. Weiss’s direct appeal, Mr. Leventhal’s anticipated 

testimony was not the crux of Mr. Leventhal’s actual conflict.  As discussed above, the 

Eleventh Circuit held that it was not the government’s issuance of a trial subpoena to Mr. 

Leventhal that precluded Mr. Leventhal from representing Mr. Weiss.  Weiss, 539 Fed. Appx. 

at 955.  Instead, Mr. Leventhal could not represent Mr. Weiss due to the “actual conflict of 
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interest that arose when [Mr.] Weiss used his services to obstruct justice” because Mr. 

Leventhal “could not counsel [Mr.] Weiss as to whether he should or should not testify 

regarding, for example, the timing and circumstances of the conveyance of the documents.”  

Id.  Similarly, the government stated on direct appeal, “[Mr.] Leventhal’s conflict of interest 

did not arise from being subpoenaed; it arose from [Mr.] Weiss’s decision to use [Mr.] 

Leventhal as his conduit in obstructing justice.”  2255 Mot. Ex. 2 at 72. 

The government’s initial position – that Mr. Leventhal had an unwaivable actual 

conflict of interest – was correct.  An actual conflict exists when the interests of a defendant 

and his attorney “diverge with respect to a material factual or legal issue or to a course of 

action.”  United States v. Williams, 372 F.3d 96, 102 (2d Cir. 2004) (quoting United States v. 

Schwarz, 283 F.3d 76, 91 (2d Cir. 2002)).  While an actual conflict may sometimes be waived, 

the right to waive an attorney’s conflict is not absolute.  United States v. Jones, 381 F.3d 114, 

119 (2d Cir. 2004).  In this regard, the courts distinguish between conflicts that “implicate the 

attorney’s self-interest” and “those that implicate the attorney’s ethical obligation to someone 

other than the defendant.”  Schwarz, 283 F.3d at 96;  United States v. Fulton, 5 F.3d 605, 613 

(2d Cir. 1993).  Where the interests of the defendant diverge from the attorney’s own self-

interest, the conflict is not waivable.  Schwarz, 283 F.3d at 96-97.  Such an unwaivable conflict 

exists where the attorney is implicated in the defendant’s offenses.  Jones, 381 F.3d at 119, 

Fulton, 5 F.3d at 610.  In this case, according to the government, “[Mr.] Weiss put [Mr.] 

Leventhal in the position of having co-acted to obstruct justice.”  2255 Mot. Ex. 2 at 72.  An 

unwaivable conflict therefore existed. 

Moreover, even if the conflict were waivable, Mr. Weiss did not knowingly waive it.  

The government asserts that Mr. Weiss waived the conflict “by using [Mr.] Leventhal to 
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obstruct justice and then continuing to use [Mr.] Leventhal as his counsel.”  Doc. 34 at 39.  

Although a defendant may waive his right to conflict-free counsel, “such waivers are not to be 

lightly or casually inferred and must be knowingly and intelligently made,” United States v. 

Alred, 144 F.3d 1405, 1411 (11th Cir. 1998) (quoting United States v. Alvarez, 580 F.2d 1251, 

1259 (5th Cir. 1978)).  The Eleventh Circuit has established a procedure, known as a Garcia1 

hearing, to “determine whether a defendant is voluntarily and knowingly waiving his right to 

conflict-free counsel.”  United States v. Zajac, 677 F.2d 61, 63 (11th Cir. 1982).  To establish 

a valid waiver, “[t]he record should show … that the defendant was aware of the conflict of 

interest; realized the conflict could affect the defense; and knew of the right to obtain other 

counsel.”  United States v. Rodriguez, 982 F.2d 474, 477 (11th Cir. 1993) (quoting Garcia, 517 

F.2d at 278). 

 Relying on the Eleventh Circuit’s unpublished opinion in McCorkle v. United States, 

325 Fed. App’x 804 (11th Cir. 2009), the government argues that the burden is on Mr. Weiss 

to establish that he did not waive the right to conflict-free counsel.  Doc. 34 at 40.  McCorkle 

also held, however, that “[a] proper waiver ‘must be established by clear, unequivocal, and 

unambiguous language.’” 325 Fed. App’x at 807 (quoting Rodriguez, 982 F.2d at 477).  

Further, the district court in McCorkle:  

conducted an adequate Garcia hearing because it: (1) explained petitioner's 

right to conflict-free counsel; (2) elicited testimony concerning the facts and 

circumstance of the case; (3) discussed the rule prohibiting counsel from 

assisting in fraudulent conduct; (4) explained the dangers of counsel having a 

conflict of interest with a client; and (5) explained petitioner’s right to obtain or 

talk with other counsel. 

 

                                                             
1United States v. Garcia, 517 F.2d 272, 278 (5th Cir. 1975). 
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Id. at 808.  Here, far from establishing that Mr. Weiss knowingly waived his right to conflict-

free counsel, the record shows that Mr. Weiss lacked the necessary knowledge to do so and 

did not do so.  Regardless of the inconsistencies in the record regarding when Mr. Leventhal 

knew of the government’s position that Mr. Leventhal suffered from an actual conflict, see 

Doc. 34 at 28-33, it is undisputed that at the time of Mr. Weiss’s January 1998 grand jury 

appearance, Mr. Weiss did not know the government alleged such a conflict existed.  2255 

Mot. at 32.  Moreover, even after Mr. Weiss was re-indicted, his counsel consistently took the 

position there was no conflict in Mr. Leventhal representing him, and none of them advised 

Mr. Weiss of the conflict or the potential detrimental effect of that actual conflict.  Id.   

 The government argues, however, that Mr. Weiss had knowledge of the conflict, based 

on its assertion that it was Mr. Weiss who created the conflict by using Mr. Leventhal to 

obstruct justice.  Doc. 34 at 41-42.  As noted, the critical time period for purposes of Mr. 

Weiss’s knowledge of the conflict was the time of Mr. Weiss’s 1998 grand jury appearance.  

At that time, the premise that Mr. Weiss had obstructed justice was merely an accusation.  Mr. 

Weiss defended against that accusation vigorously at trial, to the degree that much of the trial 

was focused on Counts 91, 92, and 93.  Moreover, even assuming the government’s allegations 

regarding Mr. Weiss’s conduct are accurate, that does not establish either that Mr. Weiss 

waived his right to conflict free-counsel by “clear, unequivocal, and unambiguous 

language.”  Rodriguez, 982 F.2d at 477, or that he had the requisite knowledge to do so.  That 

Mr. Weiss had knowledge of the underlying facts would not demonstrate that he knew of the 

conflict or the effect it could have.  The Williams court addressed precisely this issue in 

response to the government’s argument that the defendant in that case had waived an actual 

conflict by retaining an attorney with whom the defendant had committed criminal acts.  372 
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F.3d at 108.  The court observed that even if the defendant “knew the relevant facts concerning 

[the attorney’s] criminal activity, there is no evidence that [the defendant] knew how these 

facts translate[d] into a conflict of interest.”  Id. at 109.  That was true in Williams even though 

the government sought twice in that case to disqualify the attorney on other grounds.  Id.  Here, 

there was no effort made to disqualify Mr. Leventhal before the date of Mr. Weiss’s grand jury 

appearance, nor any other attempt to ensure Mr. Weiss was informed regarding the actual 

conflict from which his counsel suffered.  

The government’s argument that Mr. Weiss must have understood Mr. Leventhal’s 

conflict because he was a “sophisticated” defendant likewise fails.  The basis for the 

government’s argument is unclear.  Mr. Weiss has no legal training.  He did not go to college 

and has no degree.  In fact, Mr. Weiss was educated in a Yeshiva, and had no secular schooling 

at all other than a few elementary classes during Yeshiva.  Cf. Glasser v. United States, 315 

U.S. 60, 70 (1942) (fact that defendant was an attorney was “immaterial to a consideration of 

his right to the protection of the Sixth Amendment” and “by no means conclusive” regarding 

whether he waived his right to counsel).  Further, Mr. Weiss was not apprised prior to his grand 

jury testimony of the conflict, its implications, his right to conflict-free counsel, or even the 

meaning of those terms.  In the absence of a showing he knowingly and intelligently waived 

his right to counsel, such a waiver may not be inferred.  See Alred, 144 F.3d at 1411. 

Mr. Weiss could not have waived Mr. Leventhal’s actual conflict because it was 

nonwaivable.  Moreover, the record establishes that Mr. Weiss did not knowingly and 

intelligently waive the conflict. 

Case 6:15-cv-00471-CEM-KRS   Document 44   Filed 05/17/17   Page 16 of 37 PageID 697



 
17 

 

E. Mr. Weiss is not judicially estopped from raising Mr. Leventhal’s conflict.   

The government argues that Mr. Weiss is judicially estopped from asserting claims 

based on Mr. Leventhal’s conflict at this stage of the proceedings because he stated at trial and 

on appeal that Mr. Leventhal was his choice of counsel and argued that the government violated 

his Sixth Amendment rights by issuing a trial subpoena to Mr. Leventhal.  Doc. 34 at 43-47.  

The government’s argument reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the doctrine of 

judicial estoppel.  Indeed, properly applied, the doctrine estops the government from arguing 

Mr. Leventhal did not have an actual conflict in representing Mr. Weiss before the grand jury, 

not Mr. Weiss from arguing that he did. 

The judicial estoppel doctrine provides that “where a party assumes a certain position 

in a legal proceeding, and succeeds in maintaining that position, he may not thereafter, simply 

because his interests have changed, assume a contrary position, especially if it be to the 

prejudice of the party who has acquiesced in the position formerly taken by him.”  New 

Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 742-43 (2001) (citing Davis v. Wakelee, 156 U.S. 680, 689 

(1895)).  “This rule, known as judicial estoppel, ‘generally prevents a party from prevailing in 

one phase of a case on an argument and then relying on a contradictory argument to prevail in 

another phase.’”  Id. at 749 (quoting Pegram v. Herdrich, 530 U.S. 211, 227 n. 8 (2000)).  The 

purpose of this doctrine is “to protect the integrity of the judicial process,” by “prohibiting 

parties from deliberately changing positions according to the exigencies of the moment.”  Id. 

at 749-50 (quoting Edwards v. Aetna Life Ins. Co., 690 F.2d 595, 598 (6th Cir. 1982), United 

States v. McCaskey, 9 F.3d 368, 378 (5th Cir. 1993)).  “Judicial estoppel is an equitable 
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doctrine invoked by a court at its discretion.”  Id. at 750 (quoting Russell v. Rolfs, 893 F.2d 

1033, 1037 (9th Cir. 1990)).   

 The Supreme Court recognized in New Hampshire v. Maine that the circumstances in 

which judicial estoppel may be applied are “not reducible to any general formulation of 

principle,” and identified several factors that “typically inform the decision whether to apply 

the doctrine in a particular case.”  532 U.S. at 750.  First, the “party’s later position must be 

clearly inconsistent with its earlier position.”  Id. “Second, courts regularly inquire whether the 

party has succeeded in persuading a court to accept that party’s earlier position.”  Id. Third, 

courts consider “whether the party seeking to assert an inconsistent position would derive an 

unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party if not estopped.”  Id. at 

751.   

 Applied here, the doctrine of judicial estoppel prohibits the government’s about-face.  

First, the government’s prior position is clearly inconsistent with its current position.  The 

government argued in Mr. Weiss’s direct appeal that Mr. Leventhal suffered from a “non-

waivable conflict of interest” that “arose from [Mr.] Weiss’s decision to use [Mr.] Leventhal 

as his conduit in obstructing justice.”  2255 Mot. Ex. 2 at 72.  That position is diametrically 

opposed to the position the government now espouses, Doc. 34 at 39-43, that Mr. Weiss could 

and did waive this actual conflict.  Second, the government’s assertion of this position on 

appeal was successful.  As discussed above, the Eleventh Circuit held that an actual conflict 

precluded Mr. Leventhal’s representation of Mr. Weiss that “arose when [Mr.] Weiss used his 

services to obstruct justice.”  Weiss, 539 Fed. Appx. at 955.  Third, it would be unfair to allow 

the government to take this inconsistent position. The government cannot have it both ways.  

It was successful in preventing the counsel who had represented Mr. Weiss for many years in 
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connection with this investigation from representing him at trial based on the proposition that 

an actual conflict existed that arose when Mr. Weiss allegedly used Mr. Leventhal to obstruct 

justice.  Having successfully obtained this result, the government should not now be permitted 

to take the opposite position in these proceedings merely because it has become convenient for 

it to do so. 

 The above analysis further demonstrates the reasons that judicial estoppel may not 

properly be applied against Mr. Weiss.  While Mr. Weiss took the position on appeal that no 

conflict existed between him and Mr. Leventhal, he was not successful in that position and the 

Eleventh Circuit held otherwise. 

*** 

 For these reasons, Mr. Weiss was deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel 

based on the actual conflict Mr. Leventhal suffered in representing Mr. Weiss at the time of 

his grand jury appearance, which adversely affected Mr. Leventhal’s representation of him in 

that proceeding.  The Court should therefore grant relief on Ground One. 

II. Mr. Weiss received ineffective assistance of trial counsel because Mr. Hirschhorn 

failed to move to suppress his grand jury testimony or advise Mr. Weiss that Mr. 

Leventhal suffered from an actual conflict.  

 

For the reasons explained above and in the 2255 Motion, Mr. Weiss’s grand jury 

testimony was obtained in violation of his Sixth Amendment rights.  Mr. Weiss’s trial counsel, 

Mr. Hirschhorn, provided Mr. Weiss ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to move to 

suppress Mr. Weiss’s grand jury testimony based on this conflict of interest, see 2255 Mot. at 

35-37, and by failing to advise Mr. Weiss of the conflict, see id. at 37-38. 
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A. Mr. Hirschhorn provided ineffective assistance by failing to move to 

suppress Mr. Weiss’s grand jury testimony. 

 

The government’s argument that Mr. Hirschhorn did not provide ineffective assistance 

by failing to move to suppress Mr. Weiss’s grand jury testimony rests on its argument in 

response to Ground One that Mr. Leventhal did not suffer from an actual conflict that adversely 

affected his representation of Mr. Weiss in the grand jury proceedings.  Doc. 34 at 48.  For the 

reasons explained above, the government is mistaken in this regard.   

Further, the prejudice from Mr. Leventhal’s failure to move to suppress Mr. Weiss’s 

grand jury testimony does not, as the government argues, Doc. 34 at 49, extend only to Counts 

91 to 93.  Instead, the inclusion of those counts in the indictment facilitated Mr. Weiss’s 

prosecution on all counts of the indictment.  In particular, in a case in which Mr. Weiss’s 

testimony and the jury’s determination regarding his credibility were critical, the perjury 

charge and the evidence supporting it allowed the government to portray Mr. Weiss as an 

untruthful person. 

Mr. Weiss’s trial counsel should therefore have moved to suppress Mr. Weiss’s grand 

jury testimony.  His failure to do so was ineffective assistance of counsel. 

B. Mr. Hirschhorn provided ineffective assistance by failing to advise Mr. 

Weiss that Mr. Leventhal suffered from a conflict of interest. 

 

Mr. Weiss explained in his 2255 Motion the reasons that Mr. Hirschhorn provided 

ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to advise Mr. Weiss that Mr. Leventhal had an 

actual conflict.  In response, the government does not address whether Mr. Hirschhorn 

performed deficiently in this regard, stating only that it is “[a]ssuming arguendo that [Mr.] 

Leventhal had a conflict of interest and that [Mr.] Hirschhorn’s performance was deficient ….”  

Doc. 34 at 50.  No assumptions are needed in this regard.  The Eleventh Circuit has held that 
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Mr. Leventhal had a conflict of interest.  Weiss, 539 Fed. Appx. at 955.  As is explained in the 

2255 Motion, not only did Mr. Hirschhorn fail to advise Mr. Weiss that Mr. Leventhal suffered 

from an actual conflict, Mr. Hirschhorn affirmatively misadvised Mr. Weiss – consistent with 

the position he took in the proceedings – that Mr. Leventhal did not suffer from a conflict.  

2255 Mot. at 37.  

The government argues, however, that Mr. Weiss has not established how Mr. 

Leventhal’s conflict adversely affected his performance or how Mr. Hirschhorn’s 

representation of Mr. Weiss was affected by his failure to advise Mr. Weiss regarding Mr. 

Leventhal’s conflict.  Doc. 34 at 50-51.  To the contrary, the 2255 Motion specifically alleges 

that Mr. Leventhal was treated as part of the defense team, specifically including advising Mr. 

Weiss with regard to his testimony and to entering into a stipulation relating to the production 

of the materials Mr. Leventhal turned over to the government, 2255 Mot. at 37-38 – precisely 

the matters the Eleventh Circuit held Mr. Leventhal “could not counsel” Mr. Weiss about.  

Weiss, 539 Fed. Appx. at 955.   

Further, given those facts, the adverse effect resulting from Mr. Leventhal’s conflict 

and Mr. Hirschhorn’s failure to advise him of it is readily demonstrated.  As is discussed in 

Mr. Weiss’s 2255 Motion, establishing adverse effect requires a showing that a reasonable 

plausible alternative defense strategy existed that was not undertaken due to the conflict.  2255 

Mot. at 30-31 (citing Freund v. Butterworth, 165 F.3d 839, 860 (11th Cir. 1999)).  There are 

several alternative defense strategies that could have been undertaken here, including choosing 

not to enter into a stipulation regarding the manner in which the materials at issue were 

produced to the government, and/or Mr. Weiss choosing not to testify regarding those matters.  

The defense entered into the stipulation as part of its failed effort to avoid having Mr. Leventhal 
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testify, so that he could remain part of the defense team.  Had Mr. Weiss been properly advised 

regarding Mr. Leventhal’s conflict, he would have understood the futility of that effort, as well 

as the reasons Mr. Leventhal could not appropriately advise him regarding matters as to which 

he had a conflict.  Similarly, Mr. Leventhal participated in and advised Mr. Weiss regarding 

the decision that Mr. Weiss would testify, 2255 Mot. at 38, which Mr. Weiss would have 

understood was not appropriate if he had been warned of the conflict.   

The government next argues that Mr. Weiss may not establish prejudice from Mr. 

Hirschhorn’s failure to advise him Mr. Leventhal suffered from a conflict on the theory Mr. 

Weiss was already aware of the conflict, either because he was involved in the conduct that 

created the conflict or due to the litigation regarding the government’s subpoena to Mr. 

Leventhal.  Doc. 34 at 52.  As was discussed above, that Mr. Weiss was aware of the alleged 

underlying conduct does not mean he understood that he had a conflict.  Nor did the litigation 

on the motion to quash the trial subpoena result in Mr. Weiss being informed regarding the 

actual conflict Mr. Leventhal suffered from.  That litigation concerned whether the government 

would be permitted to subpoena Mr. Leventhal to testify at trial.  As the Eleventh Circuit 

explained on appeal, it was not the government’s decision to subpoena Mr. Leventhal that 

created the conflict, but Mr. Weiss’s alleged use of Mr. Leventhal to obstruct justice.  Weiss, 

539 Fed. Appx. at 955.   

Finally, the government argues that Mr. Weiss has not established that Mr. Hirschhorn 

was ineffective for failing to advise him of Mr. Leventhal’s actual conflict, on the theory that 

Mr. Leventhal suffered only from a potential conflict of interest and not an actual conflict of 

interest, until Mr. Leventhal was required to testify.  Doc. 34 at 52-53.  Again, this argument 

rests on the same flawed premise discussed above, that Mr. Leventhal’s conflict arose only 
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from the government’s trial subpoena, which the Eleventh Circuit has squarely rejected.  Weiss, 

539 Fed. Appx. at 955.   

For these reasons, Mr. Hirschhorn provided Mr. Weiss with ineffective assistance of 

counsel by failing to move to suppress Mr. Weiss’s grand jury testimony and failing to advise 

Mr. Weiss regarding Mr. Leventhal’s conflict. 

III. Mr. Weiss received ineffective assistance of appellate counsel because Mr. 

Calvacca suffered from an actual conflict of interest at the time he represented 

Mr. Weiss on appeal, and the actual conflict adversely affected his performance.

  

Mr. Weiss explained in his 2255 Motion that Mr. Calvacca suffered from an actual 

conflict at the time he represented Mr. Weiss on appeal because he had represented Mr. 

Leventhal on at least two matters before representing Mr. Weiss on direct appeal.  2255 Mot. 

at 39-40.  Those matters included both Mr. Calvacca’s representation of Mr. Leventhal in an 

unrelated witness tampering investigation, and, critically, his representation of Mr. Leventhal 

in connection with the litigation regarding the government’s subpoena to Mr. Leventhal, both 

before and during the trial.  Id. at 39-40.  In the course of this representation, Mr. Calvacca 

repeatedly took the position that Mr. Leventhal did not suffer from a conflict of interest in 

representing Mr. Weiss.  Id. at 40.  As a result, Mr. Calvacca could not and did not argue on 

appeal, either as an appellate issue or in response to the government’s appellate arguments, 

that Mr. Weiss was deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel as a result of Mr. 

Leventhal’s conflict. 

The government argues first that Mr. Calvacca did not have a conflict of interest due 

to his prior representation of Mr. Leventhal.  Doc. 34 at 53.  The government overlooks that 

Mr. Calvacca not only represented Mr. Leventhal in this litigation, he also represented him 

with respect to this particular issue.  With respect to this issue, he took the position on behalf 
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of Mr. Leventhal that no conflict of interest existed.  The government suggests that this does 

not represent a conflict, because at the time that Mr. Calvacca took this position on behalf of 

Mr. Leventhal, that was also the position taken by Mr. Weiss, and was initially adopted by the 

trial court.  Doc. 34 at 55.  In making this argument, the government overlooks two critical 

points.  First, notwithstanding the arguments Mr. Calvacca and Mr. Hirschhorn made in the 

district court, the Eleventh Circuit has determined that Mr. Leventhal suffered from an actual 

conflict that precluded his representation of Mr. Weiss.  Weiss, 539 Fed. Appx. at 955.  Second, 

as discussed above, Mr. Hirschhorn’s failure to advise Mr. Weiss of Mr. Leventhal’s conflict 

was itself ineffective assistance of counsel.   

The government further argues that Mr. Weiss was not adversely affected by Mr. 

Calvacca’s conflict because the issue Mr. Calvacca failed to assert on appeal – the denial of 

Mr. Weiss’s Sixth Amendment rights due to Mr. Leventhal’s conflict – was not meritorious.  

As discussed above in Section I, however, this is one of the exceptional cases in which a 

defendant had a right to counsel at the time of the grand jury proceedings, and that right was 

violated because his counsel suffered from an actual conflict.  

Finally, the government argues that Mr. Weiss waived Mr. Calvacca’s conflict by 

selecting him as his appellate counsel.  Again, however, as discussed above, a waiver of the 

right to conflict-free counsel must be knowing and unequivocal.  Rodriguez, 982 F.2d at 477 

(quoting Garcia, 517 F.2d at 278).  At no point was Mr. Weiss ever informed that Mr. 

Calvacca’s prior representation of Mr. Leventhal in connection with litigation regarding 

whether Mr. Leventhal had a conflict created a conflict for Mr. Calvacca in representing Mr. 

Weiss with respect to that issue.  Further, the basis of Mr. Calvacca’s conflict was his 

representation of Mr. Leventhal with regard to the conflict issue.  Mr. Weiss’s counsel not only 
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failed to inform him of Mr. Leventhal’s conflict, but consistently advised him there was no 

conflict.  

Mr. Calvacca therefore suffered from a conflict when he represented Mr. Weiss on 

appeal that adversely affected his appellate representation of Mr. Weiss.  Mr. Weiss was 

deprived of his constitutional right to the effective assistance of appellate counsel. 

IV. Mr. Weiss received ineffective assistance of counsel because Mr. Hirschhorn 

misadvised him during plea negotiations. 

 

 Prior to trial, the government offered to allow Mr. Weiss to plead guilty to a single 

count of Money Laundering, with a statutory maximum term of imprisonment of twenty years.  

2255 Mot. at 46.  Mr. Hirschhorn advised Mr. Weiss against accepting that offer, asserting that 

the twenty-year sentence Mr. Weiss would likely receive if he accepted the offer was the most 

Mr. Weiss would receive if he were convicted at trial.  Id.  Mr. Hirschhorn did not advise Mr. 

Weiss that if he were convicted at trial, he was likely to receive a sentence significantly greater 

than the twenty-year offer, that consecutive sentences were possible if Mr. Weiss were 

convicted of more than one count at trial, or that the maximum sentence he faced was life in 

prison.  As a result of Mr. Hirschhorn’s inaccurate advice, Mr. Weiss rejected the government’s 

plea offer, was convicted at trial, and is currently serving an 835-year sentence. 

A. Mr. Hirschhorn performed deficiently by advising Mr. Weiss he was 

unlikely to receive a sentence greater than 20 years following a trial. 

 

 The government argues that Mr. Hirschhorn did not perform deficiently with respect to 

the advice he provided Mr. Weiss.  Doc. 34 at 63-65.  The government explains that had Mr. 

Weiss been convicted of a single count of money laundering, the statutory maximum sentence 

would have been twenty years.  Id. at 63.  The flaw in Mr. Hirschhorn’s advice was not that he 

informed Mr. Weiss that a conviction following a guilty plea to a single count of money 
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laundering could have resulted in a twenty-year sentence – that advice was likely accurate.  

Mr. Hirschhorn went astray, however, when he told Mr. Weiss that he was not likely to receive 

a sentence in excess of twenty years if he lost at trial.  Mr. Weiss faced a total statutory 

maximum of 845 years.  His sentencing guidelines were calculated at an Adjusted Offense 

Level of 42, at a Criminal History Category III, corresponding to a guidelines range of 360 

months to life.  2255 Mot. at 47. 

 The federal courts have long recognized – since well before Mr. Weiss’s trial in this 

case – that an attorney advising a defendant regarding a potential plea bargain must “review 

the charges with him by explaining the elements necessary for the government to secure a 

conviction, discuss the evidence as it bears on those elements, and explain the sentencing 

exposure the defendant will face as a consequence of exercising each of the options available.”  

Smith v. United States, 348 F.3d 545, 553 (6th Cir. 2003); see also United States v. Day, 969 

F.2d 39, 43 (3d Cir. 1992) (recognizing evaluation of plea offer requires understanding of 

“comparative sentence exposure between standing trial and accepting a plea offer”).  

Numerous federal courts have held that precisely the type of error Mr. Hirschhorn committed 

here is deficient performance.  For example, the defendant in Magana v. Hofbauer, 263 F.3d 

542 (6th Cir. 2001), was charged with drug counts that each carried a mandatory ten-year 

sentence.  Id. at 545.  The state offered to allow the defendant to plead to a single count in 

exchange for the dismissal of the remaining counts.  Id. at 544-45.  The defendant’s attorney 

was under the misimpression that the sentences on the remaining counts would not be imposed 

consecutively, and advised the defendant that he had nothing to lose by going to trial, because 

he would be sentenced to ten years under the plea offer, and would be sentenced to ten years 

if convicted at trial.  Id. at 549.  The defendant turned down the plea offer and went to trial, 
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and contrary to the attorney’s mistaken impression, was sentenced to two ten-to-twenty year 

consecutive sentences.  Id. at 545.  The Magana court held the attorney’s “gross misadvice to 

his client regarding the client’s potential prison sentence, certainly fell below an objective 

standard of reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.”  Id. at 550.    

Similarly, in United States v. Gordon, 156 F.3d 376 (2d Cir. 1998), the government 

offered a defendant charged with multiple false statements and firearms counts the opportunity 

to plead guilty to a single count in the indictment, which would have resulted in a sentencing 

range of 92 to 115 months.  Id. at 377.  Defense counsel misadvised the defendant that his 

maximum sentencing exposure upon conviction following a trial was 120 months.  Id. at 377.  

The defendant was convicted at trial and sentenced to 210 months, the low end of the applicable 

guidelines range. Id. at 378.  The Gordon court held defense counsel performed deficiently, 

stating that, “[b]y grossly underestimating [the defendant’s] sentencing exposure …, [defense 

counsel] breached his duty as a defense lawyer in a criminal case ‘to advise his client fully on 

whether a particular plea to a charge appears desirable.’”  Id. at 380 (quoting Boria v. 

Keane, 99 F.3d 492, 496 (2d Cir. 1996)).  

Likewise, the Smith defendant was a former prison guard charged with multiple counts 

of sexual misconduct against inmates at a federal prison, as well as giving false testimony 

under oath during an investigation into those offenses.  348 F.3d at 548.  The government 

offered to allow the defendant to plead guilty to a one-count information charging him with 

perjury, with a maximum recommended sentence of twenty months, in exchange for dropping 

the remaining charges.  Id. at 548-49.  The defendant did not accept the offer, went to trial, and 

was ultimately sentenced to 262 months in prison.  Id. at 549.  The Smith court reversed the 

district court’s order denying the defendant’s Section 2255 Motion without a hearing, because 
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there was no record evidence that defense counsel had informed the defendant “of the 

dramatically higher sentence potential” if he was convicted at trial.  Id. at 553.  It held that 

information regarding the defendant’s “sentencing exposure upon conviction … was necessary 

for a proper consideration of the guilty plea offer.”  Id.; see also Day, 969 F.2d at 42-44 

(defendant stated claim for ineffective assistance where defense counsel failed to discuss the 

merits of five-year plea offer, where defendant was under misimpression maximum sentence 

was eleven years; defendant was sentenced after trial to 262 months).  Mr. Hirschhorn’s 

misadvice that Mr. Weiss faced a maximum sentence following trial of twenty years was 

therefore deficient performance.   

The government argues, however, that Mr. Hirschhorn’s advice was not unreasonable.  

Doc. 34 at 64-65.  It first notes that Mr. Weiss’s sentencing guidelines range “was not an actual 

predictor of [Mr.] Weiss’s sentence.”  Doc. 34 at 64.  The government appears to be making 

the point that the district court ultimately determined Mr. Weiss’s sentence based on the 

combined total statutory maximum sentences on each count – a point that only underscores the 

inadequacy of Mr. Hirschhorn’s advice.  Mr. Hirschhorn not only failed to explain to Mr. Weiss 

his potential exposure under the Sentencing Guidelines, he also failed to advise Mr. Weiss that 

if convicted on all charged counts at trial, the maximum sentence he faced was not twenty 

years, but 845 years.  This was deficient performance.    

 The government next points out that the PSR was not completed until after trial, this is 

a complicated case, and Mr. Hirschhorn was retained only in June 1998.  Doc. 34 at 64.  That 

the PSR was not completed until after trial does not distinguish this case from virtually any 

other federal criminal case.  The unavailability of a PSR does not excuse defense counsel from 

their obligation to educate clients regarding potential sentencing outcomes.  Federal criminal 
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counsel are expected to understand the Sentencing Guidelines and to explain to their clients in 

connection with potential plea offers the potential sentencing scenarios under the guidelines, 

based on the information available.  Smith, 348 F.3d at 553 (“the modern criminal justice 

system … is driven largely by the Sentencing Guidelines;” explaining sentencing exposure to 

client requires counsel to “completely explor[e] the ranges of penalties under likely guideline 

scoring scenarios, given the information available to the defendant and his lawyer at the time”); 

see also Day, 969 F.3d at 43 (“Because the Sentencing Guidelines have become a critical, and 

in many cases, dominant facet of federal criminal proceedings … familiarity with the structure 

and basic content of the Guidelines … has become a necessity for counsel who seek to give 

effective representation.) 

Further, although as the government points out this is a complex case, the calculations 

needed to understand that the maximum sentence Mr. Weiss was likely to receive following a 

trial exceeded 20 years were straightforward.  As set forth in the PSR, Mr. Weiss’s total offense 

level was calculated as follows: 

Base Offense Level:    23 

Value of funds more than $100 million: +13 

Leader/Organizer Role:   +4 

Obstruction of Justice:   +2 

Total:      42 

 

PSR at 38.  The plea communications at issue took place in November or December 1998, 

2255 Mot. at 46, two to three months before trial and five to six months after Mr. Hirschhorn 

began representing Mr. Weiss in this matter.  Whether or not Mr. Hirschhorn had mastered all 

of the facts of the case at that point, any reasonably prudent attorney preparing for trial in this 

case would have been familiar enough with the facts to understand the likelihood that the 

government would claim after a trial that the value of the funds laundered was over $100 
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million, Mr. Weiss had a leadership role, and Mr. Weiss obstructed justice.  While Mr. 

Hirschhorn could appropriately have believed the defense had arguments regarding some of 

those sentencing issues, 2  a reasonably prudent attorney would have recognized that Mr. 

Weiss’s potential sentencing exposure after a trial was as high as life in prison or an equivalent 

term of years.  No reasonably prudent attorney would have advised Mr. Weiss that his likely 

sentence after a trial was no more than twenty years. 

 The government argues that after a trial, the Court could have imposed sentence on the 

counts of conviction concurrently, pointing out that courts frequently impose concurrent 

sentences.  Doc. 34 at 64.  The Sentencing Guidelines provide for the imposition of concurrent 

sentences, however, “[i]f the sentence imposed on the count carrying the highest statutory 

maximum is adequate to achieve the total punishment.”  U.S.S.G. § 5G1.2(c).  Where, as here, 

“the sentence imposed on the count carrying the highest statutory maximum is less than the 

total punishment,” the court is required to impose the sentence on one or more of the counts 

consecutively “to the extent necessary to produce a combined sentence equal to the total 

punishment.”  § 5G1.2(d).  Again, any reasonably prudent defense attorney would have known 

                                                             
2 Even if Mr. Weiss had successfully raised arguments about the volume of funds laundered, 

role, or obstruction enhancement, it is not clear that the applicable guideline range would have 

been lower.  At Mr. Weiss’s Criminal History Category of III, a Total Offense Level as low as 

40 would still correspond to a guidelines range of 360 months to life.  To reach a Total Offense 

Level of 36, the highest level at which a 20-year sentence would be a possibility, Mr. Weiss 

would have had to persuade the Court that either: (1) the volume of funds laundered was less 

than $6,000,000 (the government alleged the volume of laundered funds attributable to Mr. 

Weiss was $103,357,079, PSR ¶ 74); or (2) neither a role enhancement nor an obstruction 

enhancement should be imposed (in a case that involved numerous participants Mr. Weiss was 

alleged to have supervised and in which Mr. Weiss was charged with perjury).  U.S.S.G. § 

2S1.1 (1998 ed.) 
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it was unlikely that only concurrent sentences would be imposed in a case in which the low 

end of the guidelines range was 360 months and the high end was life. 

 Finally, the government argues that in evaluating the reasonableness of Mr. 

Hirschhorn’s advice, the Court should not consider the 845-year sentence that Mr. Weiss 

ultimately received, calling that sentence “extraordinary.”  Doc. 34 at 64.  The Court need not 

find that Mr. Hirschhorn should have anticipated that Mr. Weiss would receive an 845-year 

sentence to find that Mr. Hirschhorn’s advice that Mr. Weiss faced a 20-year sentence after a 

trial was deficient.  Instead, the Court need only recognize that a competent attorney would 

have advised Mr. Weiss that he risked a sentence of life in prison following a trial, or 

conversely, that no reasonably competent attorney would have advised him that his potential 

exposure following a trial was no more than twenty years. 

 Accordingly, Mr. Hirschhorn performed deficiently by advising Mr. Weiss in 

connection with the government’s plea offer that he likely faced a sentence of no more than 

twenty years following a trial. 

 B. Mr. Hirschhorn’s misadvice prejudiced Mr. Weiss. 

 Mr. Weiss was prejudiced by Mr. Hirschhorn’s misadvice that he would not benefit 

from pleading to a count with a twenty-year statutory maximum because there is a reasonable 

probability that had Mr. Weiss been correctly advised, he would have entered into a plea 

agreement that the Court would have accepted.  See Lafler, 132 S. Ct. at 1385.  Mr. Weiss has 

attested that he would have accepted the offer had he understood he faced life in prison if 

convicted at trial.  2255 Mot. at 48.  That representation is credible, particularly in light of the 

significant disparity between an offer capped at twenty years and exposure to a potential life 

sentence.  See Griffin v. United States, 330 F.3d 733, 738 (6th Cir. 2003) (“a substantial 

Case 6:15-cv-00471-CEM-KRS   Document 44   Filed 05/17/17   Page 31 of 37 PageID 712



 
32 

 

disparity between the penalty offered by the government and the penalty called for by the 

indictment” is evidence there is “a reasonable probability that [the defendant] would have 

pleaded guilty had he received proper advice.”)  Moreover, the record demonstrates it is likely 

that the Court would have accepted the plea agreement.  See 2255 Mot. at 49.  

The government argues first that Mr. Weiss is not entitled to relief because he has not 

established that a “formal plea offer” was made.  Doc. 34 at 60-61.  According to the 

government, a formal plea offer would have been in writing and approved by a supervisor.  Id.  

Notably, the government does not deny that the underlying communication Mr. Weiss 

describes, in which the prosecutor offered to allow Mr. Weiss to plead guilty to a single count 

of money laundering, took place.  The sequence of events leading up to this meeting evidences 

that this communication was a true plea offer and not merely a preliminary or tentative 

discussion.  That is, in November or December 1998, Mr. Hirschhorn advised the government 

that Mr. Weiss was interested in engaging in plea negotiations.  The prosecutor advised Mr. 

Hirschhorn that she would confer with her supervisors regarding what offer would be available 

at that late stage.  About a week later, the prosecutor set up a meeting with Mr. Hirschhorn to 

discuss the government’s plea offer.  Mr. Hirschhorn and Mr. Weiss travelled from Miami to 

Orlando specifically for Mr. Hirschhorn’s meeting with the prosecutor to discuss the plea offer.  

It was at that meeting that the prosecutor communicated the government’s offer to allow Mr. 

Weiss to plead guilty to a single money laundering count.  

The government’s argument further fails because the Eleventh Circuit has held that 

even if the government’s plea offers are “informal,” counsel have “a continuing obligation to 

consult with [the defendant] regarding important developments, including plea negotiations, 

in his case.”  Carmichael v. United States, 659 Fed. Appx. 1013, 1022 (11th Cir. 2016); see 
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also United States v. Polatis, 2013 WL 1149842, *10 n.16 (D. Utah Mar. 19, 2013) (court 

found persuasive argument that “[c]ounsel can be constitutionally ineffective in the plea 

negotiation process if they fail to convey to the defendant the government’s articulated 

willingness to resolve a case by negotiation or have proposed a resolution to the case,” stating 

the “reasoning is consistent with the language and implications of Frye and Lafler”); Griffin v. 

United States, 330 F.3d 733, 738-39 (6th Cir. 2003) (defendant “presented a potentially 

meritorious claim for ineffective assistance of counsel” where he alleged counsel failed to 

inform him of a “tentative plea offer”); Gordon, 156 F.3d at 377 (defense counsel provided 

ineffective assistance by misadvising defendant regarding his potential sentencing exposure in 

connection with plea offer; government had provided “neither a written plea offer nor a draft 

plea agreement”).  As the Eleventh Circuit states in Carmichael, in the absence of such 

communication, “informal plea negotiations would be unlikely to turn into formal plea offers.”  

659 Fed. Appx. at 1022.  Had Mr. Hirschhorn correctly advised Mr. Weiss, Mr. Weiss would 

have accepted the government’s plea offer, and the offer would have been reduced to writing 

at that point. 

The government next argues that Mr. Weiss’s allegations are insufficient to establish 

Mr. Weiss would have accepted the plea offer.  Doc. 34 at 61.  It states that Mr. Weiss’s 

statement he would have accepted the offer is made with the benefit of hindsight, knowing he 

received an 835-year sentence.  Had Mr. Weiss been properly advised, however, he would 

have known that he faced a potential life sentence after trial.  There is no meaningful distinction 

between an 835-year sentence and a life sentence.  Further, with respect to either, there is a 

significant disparity with the 20-year maximum sentence Mr. Weiss would have faced had he 
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accepted the government’s plea offer, supporting the conclusion Mr. Weiss would have 

accepted the 20-year offer had he been properly advised.  See Griffin, 330 F.3d at 738. 

The government further argues that the fact that Mr. Weiss fled following his 

conviction shows he would not “have pleaded guilty to any charge that would have resulted in 

a prison sentence.”  Doc. 34 at 61.  The government’s argument again overlooks the significant 

disparity between a sentence of no more than twenty years and a potential life sentence, which 

is a difference not only of quantity but of character.  Had Mr. Weiss accepted the government’s 

plea offer in 1998 and received the maximum 20-year sentence, with the application of gain 

time he could now be out of prison.  He would be able to enjoy his retirement years with his 

family, with many years of freedom to look forward to.  Instead, he is condemned to spend the 

remainder of his natural life in prison, with a current estimated release date of November 23, 

2754.  Additionally, the full context of Mr. Weiss’s conduct here contradicts the government’s 

contention.  As is discussed in the 2255 Motion, Mr. Weiss was aware that he faced long odds 

at trial.  2255 Mot. at 48.  He nonetheless appeared at trial day after day for nine months.  It 

was only during jury deliberations that Mr. Weiss failed to appear.  Had Mr. Weiss intended 

all along to flee, it only makes sense that he would have done so before spending nine months 

of his life and a fortune in legal fees rather than at the conclusion of the trial. 

Finally, the government argues that Mr. Weiss cannot establish that the Court would 

have accepted the plea offer.  Doc. 34 at 62-63.  The government asserts that in light of the 

sentences Mr. Blutrich, Mr. Pfeffer, and Mr. Smythe each received, the magnitude of the case, 

the loss involved, Mr. Weiss’s role, the number of charges he faced, “and the fact that [Mr.] 

Weiss was ultimately sentenced by the Court to an 845-year term of imprisonment,” there is 

not a reasonable probability the Court that would have accepted an agreement that capped Mr. 
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Weiss’s potential sentence at twenty years.  Doc. 34 at 62-63.  The government is speaking out 

of both sides of its mouth.  It cannot both be true that Mr. Hirschhorn’s advice to Mr. Weiss 

that the maximum sentence he would likely receive after a trial was 20 years was reasonable, 

Doc. 34 at 64, and that an offer that would have capped Mr. Weiss’s sentence at twenty years 

was so far outside the realm of reasonableness under the circumstances of this case that there 

is no reasonable probability the Court would have accepted it, id. at 63.  Likewise, the 

government cannot credibly take the position that the 835-year sentence ultimately imposed 

on Mr. Weiss should be taken into account in considering whether the court would have 

accepted a twenty-year plea offer, id. at 63, but not when considering whether Mr. 

Hirschhorn’s advice that Mr. Weiss would likely receive no more than a twenty-year sentence 

after trial was reasonable, id. at 64. 

Second, setting aside the inconsistencies in the government’s argument, it does not hold 

up on the merits.  The offer to Mr. Weiss would have capped his sentence at 240 months, which 

was in the same general range as the sentences imposed on Mr. Blutrich (300 months, reduced 

to 200 months), Mr. Pfeffer (300 months, reduced to 200 months), and Mr. Smythe (252 

months, reduced to 150 months), each of whom were more culpable in connection with the 

underlying conduct than Mr. Weiss.3  2255 Mot. at 49.  While the government alleged Mr. 

Weiss was part of a large scheme that caused a sizeable loss, the potential twenty-year sentence 

contemplated by the government’s plea offer was a significant one.  It should not be measured 

against the 845-year sentence the Court imposed, but against the 360-month to life guidelines 

range that would otherwise have applied.  While the twenty-year offer was considerably lower 

                                                             
3 Indeed, Mr. Weiss’s co-defendants who are still living are now out of prison. 
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than that range, the Court would likely have recognized, as district courts typically do, that this 

reduction in Mr. Weiss’s sentencing exposure was the incentive for him to plead guilty. 

Further, “[a] district court’s discretion to reject plea agreements is not without limit and varies 

depending on the content of such a bargain.”  United States v. Robertson, 45 F.3d 1423, 1438 

(10th Cir. 1995).  Where a proposed plea agreement is a “charge bargain” like the one the 

government offered here, the district court is required to give “adequate deference to 

prosecutorial discretion.”  Id.  It is therefore unlikely the Court would have rejected an 

agreement like the one proposed here in which Mr. Weiss would have pleaded guilty to a single 

count in exchange for the dismissal of the remaining counts.  There is therefore a reasonable 

probability the Court would have accepted the plea offer proposed by the government. 

For all of these reasons, Mr. Weiss was prejudiced by Mr. Hirschhorn’s misadvice 

regarding the government’s plea offer. 

CONCLUSION 

 Mr. Weiss is serving an 835-year sentence following proceedings in which he received 

ineffective assistance of counsel at numerous stages, including the grand jury stage, in plea 

negotiations, at trial, and on appeal.  There is a reasonable probability the errors committed by 

Mr. Weiss’s counsel affected the outcome of these proceedings.  For these reasons, and the 

reasons set forth in Mr. Weiss’s 2255 Motion, the Court should order an evidentiary hearing 

at which Mr. Weiss may present evidence in support of his claims; vacate Mr. Weiss’s 

judgment, conviction, and sentence; and grant any other relief the Court deems just and proper. 
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